Public Participation Plan 2025



**Final** 

September 3, 2025

Dover Kent MPO



#### **Table of Contents**

Introduction	4
What is the MPO?	4
Why Public Participation is Important	4
Guiding Principles	5
Federal Mandates	5
MPO Plans and Programs	6
The Metropolitan Transportation Plan (MTP)	7
Transportation Improvement Plan (TIP)	7
Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP)	7
Public Participation Plan (PPP)	7
Other Plans	9
Public Review and Comment	9
Updates and Progress	9
MPO Council, Committees, and Staff	10
MPO Council	10
Technical Advisory Committee	10
Public Advisory Committee	10
MPO Staff	11
Meetings	12
Vision and Goals	13
Public Participation Methodology	13
Meetings	13
Internet	13
Visual Displays	13
Polls/Surveys	14
Local Media (Print and Electronic)	14
Pop-Up Outreach	14
Person-to-Person	14
Social Media Policy	15
Public Initiatives	15
Vision Zero	15
Air Quality	15
Pedestrian /Bicycle Safety	16
Traffic Safety	16
Seasonal Driving	16

Other Safety Issues	
Public Input	
MPO Initiatives	
Parklet Pilot Program	17
The Roundtable	
MPO-A Virtual Experience	17
Performance Measures	17
Public Input	17
Other Performance Measures	18
Appendix 1 – Federal Mandates	21
Annendix 2 – MPO Council TAC PAC Staff	

#### Introduction

#### What is the MPO?

The Dover Kent County Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) serves all of Kent County, including the Sussex County portion of Milford and the New Castle County portion of Smyrna. It works to plan the orderly development of a transportation system to support the region's growth. Plans and programs adopted by the MPO outline how Federal and State transportation funds will be spent and must comply with federal laws governing clean air, Title VI, and transportation safety.

"We want transportation as reliable as running water.." — Travis Kalanick
Co-founder and Former CEO of Uber.

In 1992, an agreement between the State of Delaware, Kent County, and the City of Dover established the MPO to:

- Conduct a continuing, comprehensive, coordinated transportation planning program for the region.
- Encourage cooperation among all levels of government.
- Educate government agencies and elected officials, as well as public and private groups.
- Guide the development and implementation of a transportation plan that meets all Federal mandates.

#### Why Public Participation is Important

Transportation planning isn't just about roads and routes; it's about people. To create effective systems, planners must genuinely understand the communities they serve. After all, transportation impacts nearly every aspect of daily life, helping residents get to work, school, healthcare, and beyond. Well-designed systems don't happen by accident; they require thoughtful, inclusive planning. But even the most detailed plans are meaningless if no one uses them.

Public involvement isn't just good practice—it's a legal requirement. Because most transportation infrastructure is funded with taxpayer dollars, transparency is essential. As a metropolitan planning organization, the Dover Kent County MPO is required by law (Title 23 of the U.S. Department of Transportation and Federal Highway Administration) to maintain a clear strategy for engaging the public. (See Appendix 1.)

As expectations for government accountability rise, so does the need for meaningful community input. Planners must go beyond the surface to actively include voices that are often left out. Real progress begins when everyone has a seat at the table.

#### **Guiding Principles**

The Dover Kent County Metropolitan Planning Organization has built its public outreach strategy on a foundation of clear, community-focused principles. At its core is a belief that public participation is more than just a requirement; it's a vital source of insight that shapes more thoughtful, more effective planning.

Here's what guides the MPO's approach:

- 1. **Community input drives better decisions.** Public participation brings valuable, real-world insight into the planning process.
- 2. Diverse voices matter. Including a wide range of perspectives leads to stronger, more inclusive outcomes.
- 3. **Engagement takes effort—but it's worth it.** Reaching people can be challenging, but removing impediments and using clear, compelling communication makes participation possible.
- 4. **Access for all is non-negotiable.** True public engagement means everyone has a voice, especially those often left out, such as underserved and at-risk communities.
- 5. **Time for feedback is essential.** The MPO legally provides a minimum 30-day public comment period, but whenever possible, we extend that window to ensure everyone has a chance to be heard.

This approach reflects the MPO's commitment to making transportation planning a collaborative, transparent process because when the public is involved, the entire community benefits.

#### **Federal Mandates**

The Federal Mandate outlines the MPO's purpose and applicability and states that the public must be involved at every step of the MPO planning process. It requires that the Public Participation Plan define the process for providing interested parties with reasonable opportunities to be involved in the metropolitan transportation planning process. These interested parties include citizens, affected public agencies, representatives of public transportation employees, freight shippers, providers of freight transportation services, private providers of transportation, representatives of users of public transportation, representatives of users of pedestrian walkways and bicycle transportation facilities, representatives of disabled people, and other stakeholders.

The FAST (Fixing America's Surface Transportation) Act requires that MPOs "shall develop and use a documented participation plan that defines a process for providing individuals, affected public agencies, representatives of public transportation employees, public ports, freight shippers, providers of freight transportation services, private providers of transportation (including intercity bus operators, employer-based commuting programs, such as carpool program, transit benefit program, parking cash-out program, shuttle program, or telework program), representatives of users of public transportation, representatives of users of pedestrian walkways and bicycle transportation facilities, representatives of the disabled, and other interested parties with reasonable opportunities to be involved in the metropolitan transportation planning process." (81 FR 93473, 2016)

The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA) states that "no qualified individual with a disability shall, by reason of such disability, be excluded from participation in or be denied the benefits of the services, programs, or activities of a public entity." Sites for participation activities and the information presented must be accessible to persons with disabilities.

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, together with related statutes and regulations, provide that "no person shall on the ground of race, color, or national origin be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal funds. The entire institution, whether educational, private or governmental, must comply with Title VI and related Federal civil rights laws, not just the program or activity receiving federal funds."

For the complete Federal Mandate, please see Appendix 1.

#### MPO Plans and Programs – Core Products

Transportation plans and programs that the Dover Kent County MPO develops are completed through this public process. During the completion of each plan and program, the public can review the MPO's work and provide feedback on the planning process. Final products/reports are adopted after careful consideration of community comments. Public participation comment periods prescribed by the Federal government vary by document.



Video - https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=fSLhf9l7dNQ&t=17s

#### The Metropolitan Transportation Plan (MTP)

The MPO must update and adopt a long-range Metropolitan Transportation Plan (MTP) every four years. The MTP is a strategic planning tool that provides MPO committee members, the transportation department and providers, the public, and other affected groups and individuals with a blueprint to blend transportation, county and municipal land use plans, and Delaware's State Strategies for Policies and Spending plan. It provides a shared vision for the future supported by goals, objectives, and a system assessment. Identifying future transportation needs supports the MTP vision, clearly defined fundamental strategies, actions, a budget, and an implementation plan. The MTP includes short-range and long-range strategies and actions and must span at least 20 years into the future. Public participation begins many months before the actual publication of the MTP through surveys and public workshops as the MPO works to capture the vision of the residents of Kent County as to what transportation will look like for the county in the next two decades. The Dover Kent MPO's current MTP, called Innovations 2050, is on our website.

#### Transportation Improvement Program (TIP)

The Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) is a short-range plan that contains all Federally-funded transportation projects addressing identified State, municipal, and County goals. The TIP is a prioritized list of projects, including road, bike/pedestrian, bus, and rail transportation, that the Delaware Department of Transportation expects to undertake during a four-year period. TIP projects are identified in the MTP. The TIP is updated at least every four years and amended annually. This is due to updates to the STIP (State Transportation Improvement Program) and the fact that both documents must always match.

#### Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP)

The Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP) is the annual MPO Budget, and it identifies the planning activities that the MPO intends to accomplish during the fiscal year using Federal, State, and local resources. It outlines responsibilities and procedures for carrying out the cooperative transportation planning process. The UPWP is the management tool for annually directing MPO staff activities.

#### Public Participation Plan (PPP)

The PPP is a document that describes all efforts by the MPO to inform, educate, and obtain participation from the general public. Its purpose is to ensure that the MPO effectively provides information and receives public input. The MPO strives to be proactive rather than just meeting minimum requirements. The PPP outlines how the public can be involved in transportation decision-making. Our PPP is evaluated every other year and updated or rewritten when necessary. This plan includes tried and true approaches and some new initiatives. Each PPP also includes a specific set of performance measures to analyze the effectiveness of the MPO's Public Outreach initiative. This is the current update of the PPP.



# Core Products Timeline



#### **EVERY 4 YEARS**

Looks ahead 20-25 years. Establishes long-term, mid-term, and short-term goals and projects.



#### **EVERY 2 YEARS**

Establishes short-term projects for the next 2-4 years.



Sets the budget for the MPO. Establishes studies and projects that the MPO will start or complete within the year

**JPWP** 

#### **EVERY 2 YEARS**

Guidelines for public engagement and outreach.



#### Other Plans

The Dover Kent County MPO, as described in the UPWP, performs planning studies that the staff or consultants prepare. These studies also include opportunities for public participation. These could consist of plans for safety, bike and pedestrian facilities, transportation development, land use, air quality, performance measures, environmental justice, or any other related issues affecting Kent County.

#### **Public Review and Comment**

The public is given at least 30 days after each plan has been written to review and comment. After the review period, the PAC, TAC, and Council will vote to adopt the plan. Changes after that can be made based on funding, available resources, legislation, or unforeseen circumstances. Any change will be added as an amendment, which will also be published for 30 days to solicit any comments from the public. The amendments get voted for adoption just like the original document.

#### **Updates and Progress**

The MPO will continually update the public on the progress and changes of any projects listed in the MTP, TIP, or UPWP. Once projects are included in the State CTP, they will be available on DelDOT's Project Portal page on the website (www.deldot.gov). The MPO will also publish any studies currently in progress or completed, with a project manager's name and contact information. Any current studies can be found on the front page of the MPO website under the button "Current Studies".



"One of my most fondest memories of working with the Dover Kent County MPO PAC is attending the Delaware State Fair with Helen Wiles, our outreach manager. We met early and had breakfast at Helen's Sausage stand close to the Delaware Agriculture exhibit it was delicious. We each went and spoke to fair attendees about the MPO and the work that it does specifically the MAPPIT app. Many had not heard of the organization, but were interested in learning more. Being a part of this organization has helped me to stay connected with our community and help to make it a better place to live, work and play." - Dr. Phyllis Brooks Collins

### What makes the **Dover Kent MPO Special?** Our People PAC Members Testimonials



"What I appreciate is that we are simply a critical link in the chain of planning and decision-making that not only serve to build our county's transportation system but also disseminates this vital information to our community members." - Edwin Perez

"Before agreeing to buy a new house and move, I first called the Dover Kent MPO Council member who appointed me to the PAC and asked if moving would affect my ability to remain part of it. Since I'm still in Kent County, I was good to go. So THEN I agreed to move!" -Dana Shelton



#### MPO Council, Committees, and Staff

#### **MPO Council**

The MPO Council governs the organization and comprises State and local decision-makers or their representatives. Voting members include the Mayor of Dover, the Kent County Levy Court President, and a Mayor or Council President from another Kent County municipality to represent all other municipalities in the county. Council members include the Governor of Delaware or their representative and representatives from the Delaware Department of Transportation (DelDOT) and the Delaware Transit Corporation (DTC). Representatives from the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) and the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) are non-voting members of the Council.

The MPO Council must adopt and implement the Metropolitan Transportation Plan, Transportation Improvement Program, air quality conformity determinations, Unified Planning Work Program, and Public Participation Plan. The Council is the final decision-making authority for the MPO.

#### **Technical Advisory Committee**

The Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) consists of 14 voting members from the technical staff representing State, County, and municipal agencies in the region with responsibilities for the transportation of people and goods, environmental resources, land use, economic development, public lands, and agriculture. Delmarva Central Railroad, the FHWA, the FTA, and the Delaware Motor Transport Association are non-voting members of the TAC. The TAC provides technical assistance in preparing MPO plans and programs and advises the MPO Council on technical issues.

#### **Public Advisory Committee**

The Public Advisory Committee (PAC) consists of up to 17 public representatives. Members include business people, civic leaders, and others interested in and affected by transportation planning decisions. The City of Dover appoints three representatives to the committee, Kent County appoints six representatives, and the State of Delaware has two members appointed by the Governor's office, one by DART and one by DelDOT. The MPO Executive Director recommends up to four additional members, which the Council approves.

At the direction of the MPO Council, the PAC works to:

- Identify the community's transportation needs;
- Alert the public to upcoming events and encourage attendance;
- Communicate with the public about MPO plans and programs;
- Ensure that the MPO produces plans, programs, and policies that the public can understand;
- Provide the MPO Council and TAC with facts about and feedback from the public;

Monitor the implementation of this Public Participation Plan.

The PAC is the one committee that is made up of members of the public. While many are identified as stakeholders based on other community participation or personal interests, their primary duty as part of the PAC is facilitating more public participation.

#### **MPO Staff**

The MPO has a small but dedicated paid staff. The staff includes:

- An Executive Director who manages the staff, prepares policies and contracts, manages the MTP and UPWP, meets with partner agencies, handles all personnel and human resource matters, is responsible for the MPO budget, and represents the MPO on several committees. The Executive Director works at the direction of the Council.
- A Principal Planner who meets with outside contractors on studies or programs, manages the TIP, manages the MPO's air quality and performance measures mandates, conducts in-house studies, oversees public workshops, and sits on several committees.
- A Public Outreach Manager who manages the website and all social media, works with local
  press outlets for press releases and stories, prepares the monthly newsletter, conducts any
  outreach efforts to support MPO activities, ensures all programs and projects have suitable time
  for public review, and sits on several committees. The public outreach manager works directly
  with the PAC.
- A part-time GIS Manager who creates and publishes static maps, interactive maps, and crowdsourcing maps to convey all the projects, studies, and programs in which the MPO and its partner agencies are involved.
- A Transportation Planner who conducts in-house studies, coordinates with land use planning entities, does research, writes narratives for studies, conducts public workshops, and contributes to updating all MPO plans.
- An Executive Assistant who coordinates the office, does all invoicing and internal accounting, handles program support and administration, takes minutes at all meetings, maintains the MPO mailing list, handles all correspondence, supports in-house studies, and works with the rest of the staff to assist in any of their duties.

Part of the Public Participation initiative is that anyone may stop by the MPO office anytime to see what the staff is working on. Transparency is vital to public trust.

#### Meetings

The Council meets on the 1<sup>st</sup> or 2<sup>nd</sup> Wednesday of odd months (subject to change for holiday schedules). The PAC meets on the 2<sup>nd</sup> Thursday of even months, and the TAC meets on the 3<sup>rd</sup> Tuesday of even months. Unless otherwise published, all meetings are held in the Camden Town Hall Council Room (the King Meeting Room). Times, agendas, and minutes are available on the MPO website. All meetings are open to the public, and the public is encouraged to attend.

Virtual meetings and workshops may enhance or substitute for the traditional in-person PAC, TAC, and/or MPO Council meetings. Virtual meetings will be advertised on the MPO website, the MPO social media platforms, and, when possible, in the newspaper. The public will continue to be encouraged to attend.

DID YOU KNOW?

# MPO MUSTUSE The 3 C Process

In order to be eligible for federal funds, metropolitan areas, through the MPO, are required to maintain a continuous, comprehensive, and cooperative (3C) transportation planning process that results in plans and programs consistent with the objectives of the metropolitan area. Decisions about how to spend transportation funds in a metropolitan area are guided by information and ideas from a broad group of people, including elected officials, municipal planners and engineers, transportation advocates, other advocates, and members of the public. The MPO must consider every stakeholder, paying special attention to underserved communities.

#### Vision and Goals

Public involvement is the centerpiece of the planning process. Grantees of FTA and FHWA funds are specifically required to "develop explicit procedures, strategies, and desired outcomes for public involvement." The Dover Kent MPO strives to exceed minimum requirements toward public involvement and to ensure that every voice gets heard.

The Dover Kent MPO goals for public outreach include:

- Inclusion of every community, especially those traditionally underserved.
- To be a part of every transportation and land use decision-making process as deemed appropriate.
- Identify important strategies to support community outreach.
- Relay important information in plain language.
- Provide the public with complete information, timely public notice, and full access to key decisions before adopting or amending its plans and programs.

#### **Public Participation Methodology**

#### Meetings

- Conduct meetings, workshops, open houses, and events at various locations.
- Present to groups, religious and civic organizations, and agencies.
- Sponsor focus groups.
- Participate in forums or summits when possible.
- Participate on committees and subcommittees of associated agencies and organizations.

#### Internet

- Maintain website with up-to-date and interactive content.
- Use social media to attract more public input.
- Create fun graphic elements to use online.
- Create videos to provide information or to support safety campaigns.
- Provide maps, interactive maps, and story maps.
- Provide crowdsourcing elements for public input.
- Interview key people or organizations for <u>Journeys Live.</u>

#### **Visual Displays**

- Create infographics.
- Produce the monthly newsletter, Journeys.
- Provide photography at every event.
- Create a display for events that will better explain the MPO.
- Provide dynamic presentations for meetings.
- Produce brochures, posters, and bookmarks.
- Create any special mailings for events, such as postcards, when deemed appropriate.

#### Polls/Surveys

- Use technology to attract more survey participants at pop-ups.
- Distribute printed surveys.
- Use electronic surveys on the web.
- Use polls on social media.
- Solicit survey participants for significant planning efforts (i.e., MTP).
- Use partner agencies (i.e., transit hubs) when possible, to achieve better results.

#### Local Media (Print and Electronic)

- Press Releases.
- Stories when appropriate.
- Radio and TV Interviews.
- Paid Advertising when appropriate.

#### Pop-Up Outreach

- Mini-events at libraries.
- Surveys at local businesses.
- Special outreach efforts for Bike to Work Day, Earth Day, Dump the Pump, etc.
- Setting up outreach at a specific feature (bike path, crosswalk, roundabout, etc.).
- Outreach at the State Fair.
- A limited number of informational giveaway items (such as bike lights).

#### Person-to-Person

- Mailing list.
- Committee membership.
- Email.
- Website suggestion box.
- Web Forum.

The Dover Kent County MPO is committed to getting all voices heard. The MPO will endeavor to make information accessible to all, including the low-literacy and non-English-speaking populations. This includes using translation services or more visual choices in educational and informative resources. The MPO will also constantly improve outreach to underserved populations.

#### Social Media Policy

As more and more people use the internet to share and receive information, social media has become an essential way for Dover Kent MPO to communicate with the public. The MPO uses platforms like Facebook, Instagram, X (Formerly known as Twitter), YouTube, TikTok, and LinkedIn to engage with our communities. The MPO's user name is always @doverkentmpo.

Depending on the post, leaving a comment or sending a message on social media may be considered feedback for discussion or an official public comment. The MPO may use any comments left on our page in other documents, as direct quotes, and as official feedback.

Sometimes, Dover Kent MPO shares articles and information from other sources, like newspapers or government websites. This is for informational purposes only, and it doesn't mean the MPO endorses or takes responsibility for its accuracy.

Dover Kent MPO will not allow explicit or offensive language or permit content that promotes discrimination based on race, age, religion, gender, etc. Sexual content, or any content that promotes illegal activity or links to such content, is also prohibited. No comments supporting or opposing political candidates or ballot propositions are allowed. If someone repeatedly breaks these rules, they might get blocked or have their content removed by the MPO.

#### **Public Initiatives**

In addition to the plans described previously, the MPO participates in several other initiatives that require public involvement. The MPO uses any and all public participation methodologies to enhance public involvement on these issues.

#### The Safe System Approach - Toward Zero Deaths (or Vision Zero)

Zero deaths is the goal, and creating a safer system is how we get there. The Safe System Approach is a bold, nationwide initiative aimed at eliminating serious injuries and fatalities on our roads. Born from the collaboration of safety experts, researchers, advocates, and professionals across various fields, Toward Zero Deaths, or Vision Zero, champions a powerful idea: even one life lost on our roadways is one too many. These initiatives call on everyone: government agencies, communities, and individuals to join forces and take action, working together toward the ultimate goal of zero roadway deaths. The MPO works with state agencies and other interested parties working toward reducing fatalities and serious injuries on Delaware highways.

#### Air Quality

Air quality has two components: air quality improvement and air quality alert days. The MPO is a member of the Air Quality Partnership Committee and the Delaware Air Quality Conformity Interagency Consultation Working Group.

#### Pedestrian/Bicycle Safety

As of 2022, Delaware is the 7th most deadly State for pedestrians, according to the National Highway Safety Traffic Administration. Safety education for bicycles, pedestrians, and vehicles is addressed in many campaigns.

#### **Traffic Safety**

Distracted driving, driving while impaired, driving while tired, and general safety behind the wheel are all addressed in several campaigns.

#### **Seasonal Driving**

Films and infographics with Winter tips, Summer tips, long road trips vs. short trips, holiday driving, driving while impaired, driving while tired, etc., are all addressed in several campaigns.

#### Other Safety Issues

Films and infographics regarding pulling over for emergency vehicles, not idling, stopping for school buses, etc., are all addressed in several campaigns.

#### **Public Input**

When the MPO receives ideas or suggestions from the public on any other issue, it will be considered for a future campaign, film, or infographic.



#### **MPO** Initiatives

The MPO takes a proactive role in transportation education, development, and engagement. Below are several new initiatives being pursued by the MPO.

#### Parklet Pilot Program

The MPO purchased and makes available a "mobile parklet" for municipalities to utilize. The MPO also developed a "how-to guide," which is available on the MPO website and provides technical assistance to anyone interested in parklets.

#### MPO Roundtable

The MPO held its second Roundtable in 2025. It served as a valuable vehicle for exchanging ideas, developing new strategies, and essential brainstorming toward transportation planning in Kent County. See the final report at https://doverkentmpo.delaware.gov/roundtable.

#### MPO – A Virtual Experience

This new initiative is an innovative way to educate the public about the MPO, including safety concerns such as pedestrian safety and the use of roundabouts, and features a unique and fun survey approach. The MPO will continue to use the VR experience to educate and engage the public, as well as use it as an educational vehicle to inform Kent County youth about transportation planning as a career.

#### **Performance Measures**

Performance measures to evaluate the Public Participation Plan are done based on public input and analytics that the awareness and usage of public materials can quantify.

#### **Public Input**

- Surveys Surveys will document the essential awareness of what an MPO is and why it is in Kent County. By measuring the number of people who have heard of the MPO every year, the MPO will know if awareness campaigns are reaching all their communities.
- Attendance at Workshops The number of people and feedback from the audience at any of the MPO workshops will help determine whether the MPO is reaching all communities.
- Social Media Audience Social media audiences should continually grow, but it's better when the growth is slow and steady. What is essential when measuring the effect of the MPO social media audience is that everyone coming to an outlet to like, follow, or friend is from an organic source. Maintaining steady, organic growth is the goal.
- Social Media Engagement While the audience determines the awareness of the MPO, engagement will help measure whether that audience is listening. Comments, likes, and conversations on social media measure awareness.

- Social Media Reputation Mentions, shares, and reposts can measure the reputation of the MPO brand. This is a way of measuring how much of the MPO's audience is now viewing it as an information source for transportation issues.
- Google Analytics Google Analytics measures users coming to the MPO website, how long they
  stay, how they found the website, how many pages they visit, etc. This is valuable information to
  learn how people react to what information is available on the MPO website.

#### Other Performance Measures

The MPO may also conduct a survey or an electronic poll to measure how effective the MPO is within the community. This Public Participation Plan will periodically be updated based on the community's needs and public feedback.



#### How the MPO creates effective

# **ENGAGEMENT & OUTREACH**



#### Get out and about...

Conduct market research to identify consumer preferences, age, gender, and behavior.

#### Social Media presence...

Use the right platforms to effectively reach your audience.



#### Collect and use data...

Use high-quality images, videos, and a design consistent with your brand identity.

#### Advertise when appropriate...

Send exclusive offers, newsletters, or the latest product updates regularly.





#### Create productive partnerships...

Offer limited-time deals or bundle packages to attract consumer interest.

#### Stay innovative...

Identify what works and make adjustments for better results.





#### **Appendix 1 – Federal Mandates**

#### Metropolitan Transportation Planning and Programming (23 CFR 450, Subpart C)

§ 450.300 Purpose. The purposes of this subpart are to implement the provisions of 23 USC 134 and 49 USC 5303, as amended, which:

- (a) Sets forth the national policy that the MPO designated for each urbanized area is to carry out a continuing, cooperative, and comprehensive multimodal transportation planning process, including the development of a metropolitan transportation plan and a transportation improvement program (TIP), that encourages and promotes the safe and efficient development, management, and operation of surface transportation systems to serve the mobility needs of people and freight (including accessible pedestrian walkways and bicycle transportation facilities) and foster economic growth and development, while minimizing transportation-related fuel consumption and air pollution; and
- (b) Encourages continued development and improvement of metropolitan transportation planning processes guided by the planning factors set forth in 23 USC 134(h) and 49 USC 5303(h).

§ 450.302 Applicability. The provisions of this subpart are applicable to organizations and entities responsible for the transportation planning and programming processes in metropolitan planning areas. § 450.304 Definitions. Except as otherwise provided in subpart A of this part, terms defined in 23 USC 101(a) and 49 USC 5302 are used in this subpart as so defined.

§ 450.306 Scope of the metropolitan transportation planning process. (a) The metropolitan transportation planning process shall be continuous, cooperative, and comprehensive, and provide for consideration and implementation of projects, strategies, and services that will address the following factors:

- (1) Support the economic vitality of the metropolitan area, especially by enabling global competitiveness, productivity, and efficiency;
- (2) Increase the safety of the transportation system for motorized and non-motorized users;
- (3) Increase the security of the transportation system for motorized and non-motorized users;
- (4) Increase accessibility and mobility of people and freight;
- (5) Protect and enhance the environment, promote energy conservation, improve the quality of life, and promote consistency between transportation improvements and State and local planned growth and economic development patterns;
- (6) Enhance the integration and connectivity of the transportation system, across and between modes, for people and freight;
- (7) Promote efficient system management and operation; and
- (8) Emphasize the preservation of the existing transportation system.
- (b) Consideration of the planning factors in paragraph (a) of this section shall be reflected, as appropriate, in the metropolitan transportation planning process. The degree of consideration and analysis of the factors should be based on the scale and complexity of many issues, including transportation system development, land use, employment, economic development, human and natural environment, and housing and community development.

- (c) The failure to consider any factor specified in paragraph (a) of this section shall not be reviewable by any court under title 23 USC, 49 USC Chapter 53, subchapter II of title 5, USC Chapter 5, or title 5 USC Chapter 7 in any matter affecting a metropolitan transportation plan, TIP, a project or strategy, or the certification of a metropolitan transportation planning process.
- (d) The metropolitan transportation planning process shall be carried out in coordination with the statewide transportation planning process required by 23 USC 135 and 49 USC 5304.
- (e) In carrying out the metropolitan transportation planning process, MPOs, States, and public transportation operators may apply asset management principles and techniques in establishing planning goals, defining TIP priorities, and assessing transportation investment decisions, including transportation system safety, operations, preservation, and maintenance, as well as strategies and policies to support homeland security and to safeguard the personal security of all motorized and non-motorized users.
- (f) The metropolitan transportation planning process shall (to the maximum extent practicable) be consistent with the development of applicable regional intelligent transportation systems (ITS) architectures, as defined in 23 CFR part 940.
- (g) Preparation of the coordinated public transit-human services transportation plan, as required by 49 USC 5310, 5316, and 5317, should be coordinated and consistent with the metropolitan transportation planning process.
- (h) The metropolitan transportation planning process should be consistent with the Strategic Highway Safety Plan, as specified in 23 USC 148, and other transit safety and security planning and review processes, plans, and programs, as appropriate.
- (i) The FHWA and the FTA shall designate as a transportation management area (TMA) each urbanized area with a population of over 200,000 individuals, as defined by the Bureau of the Census. The FHWA and the FTA shall also designate any additional urbanized area as a TMA on the request of the Governor and the MPO designated for that area.
- (j) In an urbanized area not designated as a TMA that is an air quality attainment area, the MPO(s) may propose and submit to the FHWA and the FTA for approval a procedure for developing an abbreviated metropolitan transportation plan and TIP. In developing proposed simplified planning procedures, consideration shall be given to whether the abbreviated metropolitan transportation plan and TIP will achieve the purposes of 23 USC 134, 49 USC 5303, and these regulations, taking into account the complexity of the transportation problems in the area. The simplified procedures shall be developed by the MPO in cooperation with the State(s) and public transportation operator(s).

Interested Parties, Public Involvement, and Consultation (23 CFR 450.316)

(a) The MPO shall develop and use a documented participation plan that defines a process for providing citizens, affected public agencies, representatives of public transportation employees, freight shippers, providers of freight transportation services, private providers of transportation, representatives of users of public transportation, representatives of users of pedestrian walkways and bicycle transportation facilities, representatives of the disabled, and other interested parties with reasonable opportunities to be involved in the metropolitan transportation planning process.

- (1) The participation plan shall be developed by the MPO in consultation with all interested parties and shall, at a minimum, describe explicit procedures, strategies, and desired outcomes for:
- (i) Providing adequate public notice of public participation activities and time for public review and comment at key decision points, including but not limited to a reasonable opportunity to comment on the proposed metropolitan transportation plan and the TIP;
- (ii) Providing timely notice and reasonable access to information about transportation issues and processes;
- (iii) Employing visualization techniques to describe metropolitan transportation plans and TIPs; (iv) Making public information (technical information and meeting notices) available in electronically accessible formats and means, such as the World Wide Web;
- (v) Holding any public meetings at convenient and accessible locations and times;
- (vi) Demonstrating explicit consideration and response to public input received during the development of the metropolitan transportation plan and the TIP; Federal Highway Administration, DOT § 450.318
- (vii) Seeking out and considering the needs of those traditionally underserved by existing transportation systems, such as low-income and minority households, who may face challenges accessing employment and other services;
- (viii) Providing an additional opportunity for public comment, if the final metropolitan transportation plan or TIP differs significantly from the version that was made available for public comment by the MPO and raises new material issues which interested parties could not reasonably have foreseen from the public involvement efforts;
- (ix) Coordinating with the statewide transportation planning public involvement and consultation processes under subpart B of this part; and
- (x) Periodically reviewing the effectiveness of the procedures and strategies contained in the participation plan to ensure a full and open participation process.
- (2) When significant written and oral comments are received on the draft metropolitan transportation plan and TIP (including the financial plans) as a result of the participation process in this section or the interagency consultation process required under the EPA transportation conformity regulations (40 CFR part 93), a summary, analysis, and report on the disposition of comments shall be made as part of the final metropolitan transportation plan and TIP.
- (3) A minimum public comment period of 45 calendar days shall be provided before the initial or revised participation plan is adopted by the MPO.

Copies of the approved participation plan shall be provided to the FHWA and the FTA for informational purposes and shall be posted on the World Wide Web, to the maximum extent practicable.

- (b) In developing metropolitan transportation plans and TIPs, the MPO should consult with agencies and officials responsible for other planning activities within the MPA that are affected by transportation (including State and local planned growth, economic development, environmental protection, airport operations, or freight movements) or coordinate its planning process (to the maximum extent practicable) with such planning activities. In addition, metropolitan transportation plans and TIPs shall be developed with due consideration of other related planning activities within the metropolitan area, and the process shall provide for the design and delivery of transportation services within the area that are provided by:
- (1) Recipients of assistance under title 49 USC Chapter 53;

- (2) Governmental agencies and nonprofit organizations (including representatives of the agencies and organizations) that receive Federal assistance from a source other than the US Department of Transportation to provide non-emergency transportation services; and
- (3) Recipients of assistance under 23 USC 204.
- (c) When the MPA includes Indian Tribal lands, the MPO shall appropriately involve the Indian Tribal government(s) in the development of the metropolitan transportation plan and the TIP.
- (d) When the MPA includes Federal public lands, the MPO shall appropriately involve the Federal land management agencies in the development of the metropolitan transportation plan and the TIP.
- (e) MPOs shall, to the extent practicable, develop a documented process(es) that outlines roles, responsibilities, and key decision points for consulting with other governments and agencies, as defined in paragraphs (b), (c), and (d) of this section, which may be included in the agreement(s) developed under §450.314.

Find the MTP, Click here to TIP, UPWP and reach us by email more! Newsletters, PPP, or phone! Upcoming and other public meetings and events outreach! here! Public Outreach + About the Dover/Kent MPO -Resources -DOVER/KENT COUNTY MPO METROPOLITAN PLANNING ORGANIZATION

## Welcome to DoverKentMPO.org!

Continue exploring our homepage for Current Studies, FAQs, Video Vault and More!!!

#### The MPO Council

Mayor Robin R. Christiansen Chairman

City of Dover

Commissioner George "Jody" Sweeney

Kent County Levy Court

Sharon Bryson, Executive Director

Delaware Office of Highway Safety

(For Governor Matt Meyer)

**Camille Otto** 

Federal Highway Administration

John Sisson Vice-Chairman

**Delaware Transit Corporation** 

Santo Faronea

Mayor of Cheswold

Stephanie Johnson, Director of Planning

Delaware Dept of Transportation (For Secretary Shante Hastings)

**Terry Garcia Crews** 

**Federal Transit Administration** 

#### **Technical Advisory Committee**

Rob Pierce, Chair

City of Milford, Planning

**Harold Scott** 

Town of Camden

Meghan Niddrie

Department of Transportation, Planning

**Catherine Smith** 

**Delaware Transit Corporation** 

**Josh Thomas** 

Office of State Planning Coordination

Jason Lyon

City of Dover Water/Wastewater

**Tina Merrill** 

**DNREC Division of Air Quality** 

Chris Salzano

City of Dover, Planning

Jeremy Rothwell, Vice Chair

Town of Smyrna, Planning

Jason Berry

**Kent County Planning** 

Milton Melendez

Delaware Department of Agriculture

**Timothy Riley** 

Kent Conservation District

Matt Jordon, Base Community Planner

Dover Air Force Base

Anastasia Jackson

**Division of Small Business** 

**Enos Han** 

Federal Highway Administration

**Cliff Grunstra** 

Delaware Central Railroad

Lee Derrickson

**DE Motor Transport Association** 

**Timothy Lidiak** 

**Federal Transit Administration** 

**Public Advisory Committee** 

Dr. Phyllis Collins – Chair

Governor's Appointee

**Gary Dodge** 

Governor's Appointee

**Bruce Snow** 

**Kent County Appointee** 

**Heather Pepper** 

**Kent County Appointee** 

Peter Brown Sr.

City of Dover Appointee

Darin Dell

MPO Appointee

**Doug Atkin** 

DelDOT/DTC Appointee

**Edwin Perez** 

Kent County Appointee

Tracey Miller - Vice-Chair

**Kent County Appointee** 

Dana Shelton

City of Dover Appointee

**Bill Holmes** 

City of Dover Appointee (At-Large)

Katie Macklin

**MPO** Appointee

#### **The MPO Staff**

Marilyn J. Smith, Executive Director
Mike Petit de Mange, AICP, Principal Planner
Malcolm Jacob, Planner II
Mike Ward, GIS Planner
Helen Wiles, Public Outreach
Michelle Vinson, Executive Assistant

Public Participation Plan 2025
Any questions or comments regarding the Public Participation Plan can be addressed to:
Helen Wiles, Public Outreach Manager
Dover/Kent County MPO
Helen.wiles@doverkentmpo.org
302.387.6026
The preparation of this document was financed in part with funds provided by the Federal Government,
Including the Federal Transit Administration, through the Joint Funding Simplification Program, and the
Federal Highway Administration of the United States Department of Transportation.